FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/24/2020 10:59 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98940-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KYLE P. KEELY, individually and as the natural father and guardian of M.K., a minor,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Casey M. Arbenz WSBA #40581 Puget Law Group 708 Broadway, Suite 400 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 627-4696

Christopher G. Torrone WSBA #35541 Torrone Law LLC 705 South Ninth Street, Suite 201 Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 327-1280 Gary W. Manca WSBA #42798 Philip A. Talmadge WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

A. INTRODUCTION

This case is about the Department of Children, Youth, and Families ("DCYF")'s responsibility to protect children. DCYF received a credible report that a mother, who had been addicted to heroin, routinely left her young children unattended for days while going on drug binges. But DCYF declined to investigate or take any other action. Then, just a few months later, the mother gave birth to another child, whom she left as an infant alone at home with his siblings, all of whom were minors. DCYF knew she gave birth but still took no action. While the mother was gone on a drug spree, with no other adults present, the infant was permanently injured.

This case squarely presents an issue that has fomented in the Court of Appeals. Despite the Legislature's admonitions that children's health and safety is among the state's highest priorities, the State of Washington argues that DCYF has no duty—either under RCW 26.44.050 or the common law—to any child when DCYF receives a report about child abuse or neglect, unless that child is specifically named in the report. Petitioner contends that DCYF has a duty to *all* children in the home, including an unborn child, when DCYF knows that a parent has abused or neglected at least one child. The scope of DCYF's duty remains hotly contested.

Besides this duty question, Division II incorrectly applied causation principles to hold that DCYF has no liability as a matter of law to the

severely injured baby here. Division II's opinion effectively creates a dangerous new immunity for DCYF; state officials charged with protecting children may now ignore the dangers to children who are abandoned alone at home. This Court should review these important issues.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Kyle P. Keely, the respondent below.

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II's unpublished opinion in *Keely v. State*, No. 51639-0-II, issued on November 24, 2020, is reproduced in the appendix ("App.") at 1–14. Division II's order denying reconsideration is at App. 15–16.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether DCYF¹ has a duty of care under RCW 26.44.050 or the common law to all the children in a home, including an unborn child whose birth is later reported to DCYF, when DCYF knows that a parent has abused or neglected at least one child.
- 2. Whether, when DCYF owes a duty to protect children from abuse or neglect, the field of danger requiring protective action includes an unsupervised child harming a younger child during a parent's absence.

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Before the injuries to baby here, DCYF came to know the family. By April 2010, police had arrested the mother, R.R., more than 20 times for

¹ The Department of Social and Health Services ("DSHS")'s Children's Administration was transferred to the newly formed DCYF. RCW 43.216.906. DCYF now has the same legal responsibilities once assigned to DSHS under RCW 26.44. Accordingly, this petition will refer to DCYF, even though the responsible agency here was DSHS. When referring to court opinions on RCW 26.44, this petition will substitute "DCYF."

crimes related to drugs and prostitution. CP 168–79. Around that time, CPS received a report expressing concern that R.R. was neglecting her two children, C.J. and Ra.R. CP 180–81. Although CPS "screened out" that report, meaning no investigation, CPS received another report the next month. CP 182–88. A social worker reported that R.R., who was pregnant, had been hospitalized due to her then-boyfriend's abuse. C.J., 11 years old, and Ra.R., just 7, were home alone. *Id.* The social worker was "very concerned" the children were alone and "placed at risk of harm." CP 184.

CPS investigated and determined that R.R., while pregnant, had left her children unattended, had a history of using drugs, including crack, had track marks on her arms, and was dating a drug dealer. CP 189–98. CPS found a "pattern of neglect/incidents/injuries ... escalating in severity." CP 222–23. R.R. had left her children alone with "inadequate supervision, thus posing a risk to their health, safety, and welfare." CP 197.

At the conclusion of CPS's investigation, a social worker met with R.R. and outlined an intensive six-months'-long outpatient treatment program. CP 200. The program called for individual counseling, group counseling, random urinalysis tests, and "total abstinence from alcohol and other addictive drugs." CP 200. CPS noted ongoing risks, as R.R. had just given birth to her third child, S.H., and Ra.R. was autistic. CP 197, 200. But CPS closed the case just three months later. CP 204. CPS should not have,

according to an expert, given R.R.'s history of drug abuse. CP 249.

Six months later, R.R.'s own sister reported R.R. to CPS. CP 282–83, 290. R.R.'s sister told CPS that R.R. had a history of heroin addiction and was slurring her words during a phone call—and also confessed that she was going on drug binges again and not parenting her children well. CP 283, 290. At the time, R.R. had become pregnant with her fourth child, M.K., although CPS did not know it yet. CP 284–87.

Frontline CPS workers were alarmed. CPS's intake specialist, A.S., decided to "screen in" R.R.'s sister's report for follow up. CP 288–92. CPS's intake supervisor agreed and upgraded the urgency level, designating the case for a 72-hour response. CP 291. The supervisor noted that baby S.H. was in the home, that R.R. struggled with drug abuse, and that CPS had made a "founded" finding for the other report just months earlier. *Id*.

Despite CPS staff's initial evaluation, CPS never followed up with R.R. because a CPS administrator overruled the frontline workers. CP 284–86. This administrator admitted later that "intake is not really my area of expertise." CP 141, 217–18. Yet the administrator completely "screened out" the case. CP 76. Barbara Stone, an expert, concluded that the administrator's override "placed these children and an unborn baby at continued increased risk." CP 249–50. R.R. acknowledged that CPS could have removed her children, but she says she would not have stood in the

way: "If my children had been removed, I would have taken advantage of all available services and gotten off drugs." CP 284–86.

DCYF learned about M.K.'s birth when R.R. sought services for the baby. CP 293–94. R.R. was still going on drug binges and leaving her kids. CP 284–86. But after DCYF learned about M.K.'s birth, it did nothing.

When baby M.K. was nine months old, R.R. left M.K. alone with his siblings and went on a drug spree. CP 296–310. The oldest of R.R.'s four children, C.J., living amidst domestic violence and documented neglect, had developed difficulties managing his anger and had struck the younger children before. CP 296, 349–55. During R.R.'s absence, baby M.K. would not stop crying one day. C.J., without his mother or any other adult present, violently shook M.K., causing massive, permanent injuries. CP 296–348. Due to these injuries, M.K. will need lifelong care. CP 332–34. CPS then removed M.K. and initiated a dependency action. CP 349–55.

Stone, the expert, laid blame at CPS's feet: "This case represents a failure by [DCYF] to appropriately assess and serve this family." CP 251–52. According to Stone, DCYF was negligent at two junctures. First, CPS prematurely closed the case it had opened in response to the second report, thus failing to "follow[] through with assessments and services." CP 251. Second, CPS should have followed up on the report from R.R.'s sister, violating DCYF policy and procedures by not doing so. *Id*.

Baby M.K.'s father, Kyle Keely, sued the State as M.K.'s guardian. CP 1–8. The State moved for summary judgment on two grounds. CP 17–34. First, the State insisted that DCYF owed no duty to baby M.K., despite DCYF knowing R.R.'s history and knowing M.K. was born. CP 7–13. Second, the State argued that any negligence was not the proximate cause of baby M.K.'s injuries. CP 14–17. Instead, the State blamed C.J., the older child who shook baby M.K. CP 15–17. The trial court denied the State's motion but certified the case for appellate review. CP 375–77.

Division II reversed, holding "that even if [DCYF] owed a duty to M.K., Keely cannot establish a question of fact as to whether [DCYF]'s actions and omission[s] were the proximate cause of M.K.'s injuries." App. 11. Division II reasoned that "C.J.'s anger issues and violent tendencies" were "the direct cause of M.K.'s injuries." App. 12. This petition followed.

F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- (1) <u>This Court Should Decide Whether DCYF Has a Duty to All</u> <u>Children Living in an Abusive or Neglectful Home</u>
 - (a) This Court Should Reach the Issue Because It
 Affects the Safety of Countless Children Living in
 Abusive or Neglectful Homes

While Division II did not directly reach the State's arguments about DCYF's duty, both RAP 13.4(b)(4) and RAP 4.2(a)(4) confirm that this Court should grant review. Whether DCYF's duty under RCW 26.44.050 is limited in scope to only the children expressly referenced in a report has

been debated vigorously in the Court of Appeals,² including in a case with a now-pending petition for review, *M.E. & J.E. v. City of Tacoma*, No. 99068-9. This Court's guidance would settle the matter, bringing certainty.

Besides that, this issue concerns a state policy of the highest order. The Legislature has made clear that "[t]he children of the state of Washington are the state's greatest resource," and that "[g]overnmental authorities must give the prevention, treatment, and punishment of child abuse the highest priority." Laws of 1985, ch. 259 § 1. The Legislature guarantees to children a "right to conditions of minimal nurture, health, and safety"—a right so important that it overrides the rights of parents. RCW 26.44.010. The safety of children, the Legislature admonishes, "shall be [DCYF]'s paramount concern." *Id.* The urgency to protect children, always present, has only grown in intensity as the global pandemic has shuttered schools and led to layoffs, with domestic violence and child abuse increasing while fewer watchful eyes are able to detect instances of abuse and neglect. It will be more difficult to provide families with child welfare services and remove children from harmful homes if, as the State claims, DCYF may lawfully close its eyes to the danger to other children living an

_

² E.g., M.M.S. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., Child Protective Servs., 1 Wn. App. 2d 320, 404 P.3d 1163 (2017), review denied, 190 Wn.2d 1009 (2018); Boone v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 200 Wn. App 723, 734, 403 P.3d 873 (2017); Estate of Linnik v. State ex rel. Dep't of Corrections, 174 Wn. App. 1027, 2013 WL 1342316 at *5, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1014 (2013).

abusive or neglectful home. This urgent issue should be decided now.

Precedent also supports reviewing a duty question at the same time as a question about proximate causation, the issue decided by Division II. While duty and proximate causation are nominally distinct elements, they intertwine. Indeed, when a causation question turns on foreseeability, as it does here, foreseeability analysis is the same for duty and causation. *McLeod v. Grant County Sch. Dist. No. 128*, 42 Wn.2d 316, 324, 255 P.2d 360 (1953). And this Court has simultaneously addressed duty and causation in many cases, including in its flagship decision on RCW 26.44.050, *Tyner v. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., Child Protective Servs.*, 141 Wn.2d 68, 82–89, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000), and more recently in *H.B.H. v. State*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 179–82, 429 P.3d 484 (2018). To properly review the causation issue, then, this Court should start by reviewing—and deciding—the nature of DCYF's duty to vulnerable children like baby M.K.

(b) <u>The State's Position Conflicts with the Statutory</u> Duty of Care Imposed on DCYF by RCW 26.44.050

The State argues that, no matter how much danger a child is in, and even if the child's sibling is named in a report submitted under RCW 26.44.050, DCYF's duty is limited to the children specifically named in a report. Br. of Appellant at 14–16. That argument conflicts with this Court's decisions, starting with *Bennett v. Hardy*, 113 Wn.2d 912, 784 P.2d 1258

(1990) and Tyner, 141 Wn.2d 68.

Bennett established the protocol for determining whether a statute implies a cause of action. See, e.g., Swank v. Valley Christian Sch., 188 Wn.2d 663, 680, 398 P.3d 1108 (2017) (applying Bennett). Under Bennett, courts must ask "first, whether the plaintiff is within the class for whose 'especial' benefit the statute was enacted; second, whether legislative intent, explicitly or implicitly, supports creating or denying a remedy; and third, whether implying a remedy is consistent with the underlying purpose of the legislation." Bennett, 113 Wn.2d at 920–21.

Tyner confirms that the *Bennett* framework must guide the courts' determinations about how far DCYF's duty extends under RCW 26.44. In *Tyner*, the Court addressed a parent's claim that he had a cause of action under RCW 26.44.050; CPS had taken his children from him for four and a half months. 141 Wn.2d at 71. The State argued that DCYF's statutory duty (acting through CPS) "does not flow to the child's parents." *Id.* at 77. This Court rejected that argument. Looking to RCW 26.44.010 and .050 as well as RCW 13.34.020, the Court "conclude[d] that under RCW 26.44.050, CPS owes a duty of care to a child's parent." *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 82. The same analysis, when applied here as it must be, overrides the State's view.

First, children like M.K.—a child not specifically named in a report about a parent but who lives in the abusive or neglectful home—are within

RCW 26.44's protected class. For the Court to determine for whose "especial benefit" RCW 26.44 was enacted, *Bennett*, 113 Wn.2d at 920, *Tyner* directs the Court's focus more broadly than just RCW 26.44.050. Indeed, the Legislature was concerned not just about children named in reports; the Legislature enacted the statute for the protection of any "child [who] is deprived of his or her right to conditions of minimal nurture, health, and safety." RCW 26.44.010. Even when parents have legal rights at stake, the Legislature directed that "the rights and safety of the child should prevail." RCW 13.34.020. M.K., as a child who did not live in conditions of minimal nurture and safety, was within RCW 26.44's protected class. After all, if parents—who have fewer protections than children—are within the protected class, per *Tyner*, then so too must be their vulnerable children, whose safety is DCYF's "paramount concern." RCW 26.44.010

The State argues that M.K. did not enjoy protection under RCW 26.44 because, as an unborn child, he did not meet the statutory definition of "child." Reply Br. of Appellant at 3–5. The statute defines a "child" as "any person under the age of eighteen years of age." RCW 26.44.020(2). But it does not further define "person," raising an interesting and important question for this Court. Even so, the State's argument ignores an undisputed fact—DCYF learned about M.K.'s birth. CP 293–94. At that point, M.K. unambiguously was a "child" within the special protected class.

Indeed, DCYF's own self-reporting obligation under RCW 26.44 was enough to trigger the duty upon M.K.'s birth.³ This self-reporting obligation arose because DCYF knew—or should have known—that M.K. was soon to be born and was neglected. DCYF had information from R.R.'s sister that R.R. had been using drugs during M.K.'s gestation and had been abandoning her children. CP 72, 284–86. Plus, if DCYF had responded as it should have when frontline CPS workers sounded the alarm, DCYF would have met with R.R. and provided services over several months, as it had before, or would have started a dependency action. During that time, DCYF would have learned about R.R.'s pregnancy. CP 251. And anyway, DCYF learned about M.K.'s birth while DYCF still possessed R.R.'s sister's report of R.R.'s neglectful behavior. CP 293–94. Thus, even under the State's statutory interpretation, DCYF's duty broadened to include M.K. upon his birth because DCYF had to self-report baby M.K.'s neglect.

Second, legislative intent supports creating a remedy. Bennett, 113 Wn.2d at 920. In Tyner, the Court found this Bennett prong was satisfied because of the Legislature's expression in RCW 26.44.010. Here too, that part of RCW 26.44 implicitly supports creating a remedy for children in M.K.'s position. Again, the Legislature did not limit its concern to abuse or

 $^{^3}$ RCW 26.44.030(1)(a) provides that "[w]hen any employee of [DCYF] ... has reasonable cause to believe that a child has suffered abuse or neglect, he or she shall report such incident ... to the proper law enforcement agency or to [DCYF]."

neglect that had been reported. Rather, the Legislature intended to protect children when "neglect" or other maltreatment "have occurred." RCW 26.44.010. The chapter's mandatory reporting requirements, in tandem with DCYF's investigatory duty, were just the Legislature's chosen mechanism to uncover such abuse or maltreatment. Thus, a remedy here aligns with the Legislature's intent to protect children whose "physical or mental health is jeopardized." RCW 26.44.010.

Third, "implying a remedy is consistent with the underlying purpose of the legislation." *Bennett*, 113 Wn.2d at 921. The statue's main purposes, as summarized in *Tyner*, are "to protect children and maintain the integrity of the family." This Court has long recognized that "tort liability will encourage [DCYF] to avoid negligent conduct and leave open the possibility that those injured by [DCYF]'s negligence can recover." *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 80 (quotation omitted). Any argument to the contrary is in direct conflict with this settled principle.

This Court has already held, in *Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Mkt., Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 468, 951 P.2d 749 (1998), that a statute implying a cause of action should not be read as narrowly as the State urges here. *Schooley* concerned tort liability under RCW 66.44 for selling alcohol to minors. The defendant was a store; the plaintiff was a minor who received alcohol from another minor, who had purchased it from the store. The plaintiff claimed a

duty arose from RCW 66.44.320, which prohibited "sell[ing] any intoxicating liquor to any minor." The defendant disagreed. Paralleling the argument here, the defendant argued that the protected class was only minors who bought liquor, not other minors who later drank it. *Schooley*, 134 Wn.2d at 474–75.

But this Court sided with the plaintiff, refusing to construe a statute's protected class so narrowly. This Court recognized that RCW 66.44.320's prohibition on sales to minors was simply the mechanism for protecting a broader class and achieving a more sweeping purpose. As this Court explained, the Legislature intended "to protect minors' health and safety interests from their own inability to drink responsibly and to protect against the particular hazard of alcohol in the hands of minors." *Schooley*, 134 Wn.2d at 476 (quotation omitted). The protected class should not be read narrowly if doing so would undermine the legislative purpose. *Id.* The lesson of *Schooley* is clear: the means that the Legislature has chosen—in *Schooley*, prohibiting alcohol sales to minors—to achieve its purpose does not limit the class of persons that the Legislature wishes to protect.

The same logic controls here. The Legislature's purpose was not to create a circular statute. It did not mandate reports, RCW 26.44.030, and require investigations of reports, RCW 26.44.050, only for the benefit of children mentioned in reports. Rather, "the protected class," *Schooley*, 134

Wn.2d at 476, is much broader. The legislation aims to protect *all* children suffering abuse or neglect; reports and follow-up investigations are simply a mechanism for achieving that goal. In other words, a "report" under RCW 26.44.050 is simply what "triggers" DCYF's duty to investigate. *Wrigley v. State*, 195 Wn.2d 65, 71, 73, 77, 455 P.3d 1138 (2020). It is not the duty itself. As in *Schooley*, however, the mechanism for achieving the Legislature's goal does not shrink the especial class of protected persons.

The State's warnings about unlimited liability do not align with this Court's teachings. As *Tyner* explained, "all that is required is that the State act reasonably, not that it act in a flawless manner." 141 Wn.2d at 81. And the reasonableness standard is not the only limitation on DCYF's liability. Another curb, says *H.B.H.*, is "the concept of foreseeability." 192 Wn.2d at 176. The sky will not fall.

Because the State's arguments conflict with the principles set out in this Court's many decisions, review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(c) <u>The State's Position Conflicts with Common Law</u> <u>Principles for When One Owes a Protective Duty</u>

The State's argument about DCYF's lack of a duty to M.K. also conflicts with common law principles. To begin with, DCYF voluntarily undertook to provide services to R.R. for the benefit of her children. CP 199–204. It is black letter tort law that "if someone gratuitously undertakes

to perform a duty, they can be held liable for performing it negligently." *Burg v. Shannon & Wilson, Inc.*, 110 Wn. App. 808, 43 P.3d 526 (2002); *accord, Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 323. As expert Stone concluded, DCYF was negligent in providing those services. CP 249–50.

DCYF also formed a special relationship with R.R.'s children, triggering a duty to protect them from harm, even from each other as third parties. A special relationship between a defendant and a plaintiff supports a duty to prevent a third party from harming the plaintiff. *Niece v. Elmview Grp. Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 43, 929 P.2d 420 (1997). Examples of such special relationships include schools and students, *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 320; a group home and their disabled residents, *Niece*, 131 Wn.2d at 46; and DCYF and foster children, *H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 178.

In the same vein, a special protective relationship arises between DCYF and abused or neglected children once DCYF's duty to investigate is triggered under RCW 26.44.050. Crucially, DCYF's duty to children becomes serial in nature, as recognized in both *Wrigley*, 195 Wn.2d at 77 and *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 78–79. DCYF's duty to investigate under RCW 26.44.050 is linked to its duty to investigate under RCW 74.13.031 when aware of "an imminent risk of serious harm" to children. *Wrigley*, 195 Wn.2d at 77 (quoting RCW 74.13.031(3)). DCFY's duty is also chained its duty "to protect children" under RCW 13.34, such as by seeking shelter care

and starting a dependency action. *Wrigley*, 195 Wn.2d at 77; *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 78–79. Upon investigating abuse or neglect as required by RCW 26.44.050 and RCW 74.13.031(3), DCYF then must "offer child welfare services" or "bring the situation to the attention of an appropriate court." RCW 74.13.031(3). RCW 26.44.050 echoes this provision, directing DCYF "where necessary to refer such report to the court"—an allusion to shelter care and dependency actions in RCW 13.34.

When DCYF navigates these connected duties, it has discretion, as long as it "act[s] reasonably in its determination" on whether to provide services, or to instead "initiate a dependency," or to do nothing at all. *Tyner*, 141 Wn.2d at 81. Thus, a child living with a parent under investigation is completely at the mercy of DCYF's discretion. The decision about how to protect the child is determined by DCYF alone, not the child. Thus, under these interrelated statutes, DCYF bears the "assumption of responsibility for the safety of another." *Niece*, 131 Wn.2d at 46. Any other conclusion conflicts with the forgoing principles. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(2) This Court Should Decide Whether the Field of Danger to a
Baby, When Abandoned Home Alone by a Drug Addicted
Parent, Includes Harm from Another Unsupervised Child

Division II is the intermediate appellate court that decides most appeals involving DCYF, and so Division II's opinions serve as important guidance to DCYF. With Division II's decision here, DCYF need not

protect against the dangers to a baby who is home alone. While couched as a matter of causation, the court's opinion limits DCYF's duty too because the "pertinent inquiry"—foreseeability—is the same. *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 321. Given this overlap, the decision narrows the field of danger that DCYF must anticipate and guard against. That limiting effect on DCYF's liability cries out for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Division II's opinion also creates a rupture in the law of causation, meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Division II severed causation analysis from the strict rules for finding a superseding cause. Any intervening act that is reasonably foreseeable, or that was related to the situation created by the defendant's negligence, cannot be a superseding cause. *Campbell v. ITE Imperial Corp.*, 107 Wn.2d 807, 813, 733 P.2d 969 (1987). Thus, the intervening intentional acts of third parties, if within these criteria, are not a superseding cause. *Schooley*, 134 Wn.2d at 482; *McLeod*, 42 Wn.2d at 323. Division II overlooked these criteria for superseding cause, and its decision invites DCYF and other courts to do the same.

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