NO. 98940-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KYLE P. KEELY, individually and as the natural father and guardian of M.K., a minor,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

GARTH A. AHEARN Assistant Attorney General WSB No.: 29840 1250 Pacific Ave., Suite 105 P.O. Box 2317 Tacoma, WA 98402-2317 Phone: (253) 593-5243 OID No.: 91105

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

In its unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals held that Keely "cannot establish factual causation on his claims." *Keely*, 2020 6888987, at *1. Factual causation – specifically whether Keely introduced sufficient evidence to establish cause in fact – was the sole basis for the decision below and is the sole issue properly subject to this Court's discretionary review.

Disregarding the limited basis of the Court of Appeals' ruling, Keely focuses his Petition almost exclusively on duty. *See* Pet. at 6-16. The Petition effectively seeks an advisory opinion, because the Court of Appeals explicitly assumed that both duty and breach were present and did not analyze or rule on either. *Keely*, 2020 WL 6888987 at **4, 5, 6. This Court should reject Keely's request for an advisory opinion, and deny discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' fact-specific application of well-settled law.

A. Review Is Not Warranted of This Unpublished Decision That Does No More Than Apply Well-Settled Law Governing Cause In Fact to the Specific Facts Presented by This Case

The Court of Appeals' unpublished, unanimous decision "reverse[d] the trial court's denial of summary judgment on the basis that Keely cannot establish factual causation on his claims." *Keely*, 2020 6888987, at *1. Contrary to Keely's contentions, the Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with well-settled Washington law dictating that cause in fact cannot be based on impermissible speculation. Discretionary review of this fact-specific decision applying well-settled law is not warranted.

1. The Decision Below Correctly Determined That Keely Failed to Present Sufficient Evidence to Establish Cause in Fact Without Impermissible Speculation

The Court of Appeals dismissed this case as a matter of law because Keely did not establish cause in fact. The court applied settled law to reach this conclusion, correctly pointing out that a "claim for liability cannot rest on a speculative theory or an argumentative assertion of possible counterfactual events." *Id.* at *4 (citing *Martini v. Post*, 178 Wn. App. 153, 165, 313 P.3d 473 (2013); *H.B.H. v. State*, 197 Wn. App. 77, 93, 387 P.3d 1093 (2016), *aff'd*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 429 P.3d 484 (2018)). "Cause in fact exists when 'but for' the defendant's actions, the claimant would not have been injured." Id. at *5 (citing Tyner v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 141

Wn.2d 68, 82, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000)).

Proceeding from these fundamental tenets of black letter law, the

Court of Appeals properly identified the question in this case to be:

if DSHS had provided Ross with adequate services following the May 2010 referral, and if DSHS had accepted the June 2011 referral and conducted an investigation, would DSHS have discovered C.J.'s violent tendencies towards other children in the home and would such discovery have enabled DSHS to prevent M.K.'s injury in December 2012.

Keely, 2020 6888987, at *6. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Keely could not meet his burden of proof on this question absent impermissible speculation, for a number of reasons.

First, as the Court of Appeals identified, Keely "*presented no evidence* of C.J.'s violent tendencies or anger issues at the time of the May 2010 referral or at the closure of Ross's case in December 2010." *Id.* at *6 (emphasis added). Thus it was "far too speculative" to assume that, if DSHS had provided additional services following the May 2010 referral, then "DSHS would have discovered C.J.'s violent tendencies because the record indicates that they surfaced a year later." *Id.* at *6.

Second, the Court of Appeals then addressed Keely's contention that M.K. would not have been harmed if DSHS had conducted a June 2011 investigation. To survive summary judgment, as the Court of Appeals correctly pointed out, "a plaintiff must present "some competent evidence of factual causation" that precludes jury speculation." *Id.* at *4 (quoting *Behla v. R.J. Jung, LLC,* 11 Wn. App. 2d 329, 347, 453 P.3d 729 (alteration in original) (quoting *Estate of Bordon ex rel. Anderson v. Dep't of Corr.,* 122 Wn. App. 227, 242, 95 P.3d 764 (2004)), *review denied,* 195 Wn.2d 1012 (2020)).

With this principal in mind, the court noted that even assuming a June 2011 investigation would have revealed C.J.'s behaviors, it was "far too tenuous" to make the inference from the evidence in the record that M.K. would not have been harmed. *Id.* at *6. The trier of fact would "need to either adopt the possible theory that as part of the services provided to Ross, DSHS would have also provided services to C.J., C.J. would have participated in services, and the services would have fully addressed his anger to prevent M.K.'s injuries, or the possible theory that C.J. would have been permanently removed from the home." *Id.*

However, Keely presented no evidence supporting either of these theories. *Id.* There is no admissible evidence in the record that C.J. would have been removed from the home prior to the assault. Ms. Barbara Stone, Keely's standard of care expert, did not opine that any of Ross's children would have been removed from the home based on the facts of this case. CP at 245-81. Further, Ms. Stone did not opine that C.J. would not have assaulted M.K. if DSHS had acted differently. Indeed, as she never spoke to C.J., she had no factual basis to form an opinion on that issue even if she were qualified to render such an opinion, which she is not. *See Melville v. State*, 115 Wn.2d 34, 40-41, 793 P.2d 952 (1990) (finding that speculations of expert witnesses opining as to effect of voluntary services on individual with whom they had no direct contact were insufficient to raise an issue of fact); *Bordon*, 122 Wn. App at 247.

Given the lack of evidence in the record to support Keely's theories of factual causation, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that, "[w]hile Keely speculates that DSHS could have taken a number of steps that could have contributed to the prevention of M.K.'s harm, *this type of speculation is insufficient* to create a genuine issue of material fact." Keely, 2020 WL 6888987, at *6 (emphasis added). As such, the Court of Appeals properly reversed the trial court's denial of summary judgment and dismissed Keely's claims.

2. Keely's Contentions Regarding Foreseeability, Superseding Cause, and Field of Danger Are Inapposite

The Petition opens its cursory argument that the fact-bound causation issue warrants review with the inflammatory – and erroneous – contention that the decision means DSHS "need not protect against the dangers to a baby who is home alone." Pet. at 16-17. The decision, a

case-specific, unpublished ruling on factual causation, means no such thing. Nonetheless, in support, Keely argues three concepts inapposite to the decision's rationale: foreseeability, superseding cause, and field of danger. Pet. at 16-20. All three are red herrings. Foreseeability goes to scope of duty, which the decision below assumed and did not decide. Superseding cause was likewise not at issue in the decision, which simply determined that the evidence presented was insufficient to establish cause in fact. As for field of danger, it goes to the analysis of legal causation, not factual causation. Discretionary review should be denied.

Keely first raises foreseeability, contending that the decision, which the Court of Appeals explicitly restricted to cause in fact, "limits [DSHS's] duty too because the 'pertinent inquiry' – foreseeability – is the same." Pet. at 17. This erroneously conflates the scope of a legal duty that is limited by foreseeability (the RCW 26.44.050 negligent investigation duty) with the separate element of cause-in-fact. *See Hansen v. Friend*, 118 Wn.2d 476, 483, 824 P.2d 483 (1992) (foreseeability limits the scope of a duty, it does not independently create a duty). Because the Court of Appeals did not reach the duty issue, Keely, 2020 WL 6888987, at **4, 5, 6, foreseeability is inapposite.

Keely then claims the unpublished opinion creates a "rupture in the law of causation" by "sever[ing] causation analysis from the strict rules for finding a superseding cause." Pet. at 17. Specifically, Keely argues that "any intervening act that is reasonably foreseeable, or that was related to the situation created by the defendant's negligence, cannot be a superseding cause." Pet. at 17. But the Court of Appeal's determination that Keely failed to establish cause in fact was not based on C.J.'s action constituting a superseding cause. Rather, it was based on Keely failing to introduce any evidence to support the inference that, if DSHS had provided more services in 2010 or conducted an investigation in 2011, the assault would not have occurred. *Keely*, 2020 WL 6888987, at *6.

Finally, Keely claims the decision focused "too narrowly on the specific mechanism of harm" rather than the "general field of danger" to M.K. Pet. at 17-18. But "field of danger" goes to legal causation, and the interrelated issue of duty. *Meyers v. Ferndale Sch. Dist.*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 254, 266-68, 457 P.3d 483, 490, *aff'd*, No. 98280-5, 2021 WL 822221 (Wash. Mar. 4, 2021). By contrast, factual causation was the basis of the Court of Appeals' decision below.

In this case, the Court of Appeals simply determined that it was "far too tenuous to infer from *the evidence* that the harm would have been prevented" even if DSHS acted differently. Keely, 2020 WL 6888987, at *6. The Court of Appeals' conclusion is consistent with the long-standing rule that a plaintiff must establish that the harm suffered would not have occurred "but for" an act or omission of the defendant. *Joyce v. Dep't of Corr.*, 155 Wn.2d 306, 322, 119 P.3d 825 (2005).

Cause in fact does not exist if the connection between an act and the later injury is indirect and speculative. *Walters v. Hampton*, 14 Wn. App. 548, 555, 543 P.2d 648 (1975). As Keely admitted, the injuries to M.K. were caused by M.K.'s brother C.J. Mot. for Recons. at 3. Keely fails to identify any admissible evidence showing that C.J. would not have assaulted M.K. if Ross had participated in services. *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 761, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013). Put another way, even if Ross's issues had been fully addressed, it is still speculative to claim that M.K. would not have been harmed by C.J. The Court of Appeals decision correctly found Keely's evidence on factual causation to be speculative. Discretionary review is not warranted.

B. Review Is Not Warranted on the Issue of Duty, Which the Unpublished Decision Assumed and Did Not Address

This Court should also reject Petitioner Keely's invitation to use the decision below as a vehicle for conducting a sweeping review of DSHS's duty to Washington's children. Pet. at 6-16. The Court of Appeals was explicit: it did not reach the issue of duty when it determined that Keely's claims should be dismissed. Instead, the court assumed for the sake of argument that both duty and breach existed based on current case law, and

dismissed Keely's claims solely on the grounds that factual causation was speculative. *Keely*, 2020 WL 6888987, at *6. Accordingly, the decision offers neither grounds nor fodder for considering the issue of duty. Keely's extensive argument regarding duty is inapposite to the sole issue addressed in the decision below and should be denied.

Given that the unpublished decision below assumed duty without further analysis, it obviously creates no conflict with any decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals. The Petition's critiques of supposed State positions on duty are merely an attempt to create a basis for review where none exists. The decision below does not create a conflict of law, nor any other basis warranting review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

V. CONCLUSION

As the Court of Appeals properly recognized in its unpublished decision, speculation regarding what DSHS could have done differently does not constitute evidence to establish cause in fact. The court correctly determined that Keely's claims failed on cause in fact. Keely's Petition for Review should be denied.